
Please ask for  Democratic Services
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
Committee - COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE SUB-

COMMITTEE
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 12TH DECEMBER, 2017 

AT 10.00 AM
Venue - DEREHAM ROOM, ELIZABETH 

HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee.

Membership

Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Councillor E. Gould
Mrs T. Hewett

Mrs J. Hollis
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr M. S. Robinson

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: 4 December 2017 

Public Document Pack





Community Governance Sub-Committee
Tuesday, 12th December, 2017

Page(s)
herewith

1. CHAIRMAN 
To appoint a Chairman for the ensuing year.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive any apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Members 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

4. TERMS OF REFERENCE (FOR INFORMATION) 4 - 5
The Terms of Reference of the Community Governance Sub-Committee 
were approved at the Full Council meeting held on 2 November 2017.

5. TERMS OF REFERENCE (TOR) FOR COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE 
REVIEWS 

6 - 33

Report of Mark Stinson, Executive Manager Governance.

6. NEXT MEETING 
To make the necessary arrangements for the next meeting.



Community Governance Review 
Sub Committee 

1. Terms of Reference

1.1      To oversee Community Governance Reviews, and in particular:

1.2  To approve Terms of Reference for the Community Governance 
Review

1.2 Approve draft proposals for public consultation

1.3 Make recommendations to Full Council on Community 
Governance Orders, taking into account any feedback 
received

1.4 To review representations made in relation to the Community 
Governance Reviews to inform final recommendations to be 
made to the Council.

1.5 To formulate final recommendations for consideration by the 
Council 

1.6 To provide such further advice and support as may be 
requested by the Council related to or impacted upon by the 
Community Governance Review.

1.7 The subcommittee reports direct to Council as required within 
the electoral review timescale in respect of its work and 
recommendations.

2. Membership

2.1 The Sub Committee shall have a membership of six members. 

2.2 The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Sub Committee shall
be elected by the Council for each civic year.

3. Quorum

3.1 The minimum number of members to transact any business shall 
be 3.

4

Agenda Item 4



4. Procedures, protocols and other matters 

4.1 Except as provided below, the Chairman shall be responsible for 
maintaining order and the effective conduct of business at 
meetings.

4.2 Any member of the Council can attend and may speak on any 
issue. 

4.3 Members of the press and public may attend. 

4.4 The Constitution set out rules and procedures that apply to 
committees and sub-committees.

5



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Mark, Stinson, Executive Manager Governance

To: Community Governance Review Sub-Committee: 12 December 2017

(Author: Sue Daniels, Electoral Services Team Leader)

Subject: Terms of Reference (ToR) for Community Governance Reviews 

Purpose: To agree the Terms of Reference for Community Governance Reviews

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Terms of Reference for Carbrooke are agreed

2) That the Terms of Reference for Great Ellingham are agreed 

3) That the Terms of Reference for Thetford are agreed

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Requests were received from three parishes to carry out a Community Governance 
Review in their area. Council at its meeting on 2nd November 2017 resolved: 

 That the requests from each of the respective Councils to carry out Community 
Governance Reviews be approved; 

 The creation of a Cross Party Community Governance Sub-Committee 

 The delegation of powers to the Cross Party Community Governance Sub-
Committee to set the Terms of Reference for each review and to undertake the 
review process; and 

 That the final decision on the outcomes of the reviews be reserved to Full Council.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members have the option to agree the Terms of Reference for each parish, or to require 
amendments.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To allow commencement of the community governance reviews for the parishes of 
Carbrooke, Great Ellingham and Thetford.

6

Agenda Item 5



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To deliver the benefits in line with the criteria set down in the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 for improved community engagement, more 
cohesive communities, better local democracy and result in more effective and convenient 
delivery of local services.  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk  Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1  The review to be conducted in accordance with the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007.

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1  Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way.
5.3.2  Enabling stronger, more Independent communities.

5.4 Financial 

5.4.1  The work will be undertaken by officers by way of normal business.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Carbrooke, Attleborough, Gt Ellingham, Thetford, Croxton, Brettenham and Kilverstone.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ToR (Terms of Reference).

Background papers:- None but we have had regard to the following published document: 
Guidance on Community Governance Reviews 2010- published by 
The Local Government Boundary Commission/Department for 
Communities and Local Government.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sue Daniels, Electoral Services Team Leader
Telephone Number: 01362 656870
Email: elections@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

7



 

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW
TERMS OF REFERENCE

PARISH OF CARBROOKE

THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE HAVE BEEN PUBLISHED BY THE 
COUNCIL ON

8 January 2018

SUBMISSIONS AND COMMENTS ON THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
DOCUMENT SHOULD BE MADE 

BY 

16 February 2018

8



2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN 
HEALTH ACT 2007

TERMS OF REFERENCE
PARISH OF CARBROOKE

Introduction

On 2 November 2017, Breckland Council resolved to undertake a Community 
Governance Review covering the parish of Carbrooke.
 
Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 devolves the power to take decisions about matters such as the creation of 
parishes and their electoral arrangements from the Secretary of State and the 
Electoral Commission to local government and local communities in England.  

The review will be conducted under Sections 79 to 102 of the Local Government 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and have regard to Guidance on Community 
Governance Reviews issued in accordance with section 100(4) of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 by the Department of 
Communities and Local Government and the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England in March 2010.  

Breckland Council has also given due consideration and carefully considered the 
Guidance on Community Governance Reviews issued by the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government published in March 2010.

The full text of the 2007 Act can be accessed at: Local Government and Public 
involvement in Health Act 2007. 
www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1 

Principal councils are also required to have regard to guidance on undertaking 
community governance reviews. The guidance can be accessed at: 

 Guidance on community governance reviews  

The Terms of Reference document (ToR) 

Section 81 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
requires the Council to publish a Terms of Reference document for a Community 
Governance Review. This document is published to meet that requirement.

The Terms of Reference of any Review will be published on the Council’s website 
(www.breckland.gov.uk) and will also be available to view at the Council’s main 
offices Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE.

Who will undertake the Review?

The Community Governance Review Sub-Committee (CGRSC) is responsible for 
undertaking the review. Organisation of the consultations and all subsequent 
correspondence is undertaken by the Electoral Services Team Leader at 
Breckland Council. The CGRSC of the Council is delegated to deal with all related 
matters and will make the final recommendation after the consultations have been 
concluded. The matter will then be taken to Full Council for final decision. 

9

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf


3

What is a Community Governance Review (CGR)?

A Community Governance Review (CGR) is a legal process whereby Councils can 
create parish councils, review and change parish boundaries and in extreme cases, 
abolish parishes. The Council must ensure that community governance in the area 
under review reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area, and is 
effective and convenient.  It is important that recommendations made through a CGR 
should bring about improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, 
better local democracy and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local 
services.

This means making sure that electors and other interested groups have a say in how 
local services are delivered in their area. Electors and interested parties will be 
notified of the proposals by way of public notice and their feedback will be sought.  

A community governance review can consider one or more of the following options:-

 creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes;
 the naming of parishes and the style of new parishes and the creation of town 

councils;
 the electoral arrangements for parishes (for instance, the ordinary year of 

election; council size; the number of councillors to be elected to the council, 
and parish warding);

 grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping parishes;
 other types of local arrangements.

The Council is required to ensure that community governance within the area under 
review:-

 will be reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that area;
 consider what community governance arrangement is effective and 

convenient to the community in that area;
 consider what other arrangements there could be for the purpose of 

community governance or engagement;
 consider the size, population and boundaries of the local community or 

parish.

Why is the Council undertaking the review?

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (LGPIH) devolved 
the power to take decisions relating to the creation or abolition of parishes, the 
boundaries of parishes and the electoral arrangements of parish councils from the 
Secretary of State and the Electoral Commission to principal councils. 

This document sets out the aims of the review, the legislation that guides it and some 
of the policies the Council considers important in the review. In coming to its 
recommendations in a review, the Council needs to take account of the view of the 
local people.

The Council recognises that the development of strong, sustainable communities 
depends on residents’ active participation in decision making and making a positive 
contribution to improving the place where they live. The Council is therefore 
committed to engaging effectively with the Communities it serves and to enabling 
local people to participate meaningfully in decisions that affect their lives, where all 
people feel able to take an active part in influencing service delivery.

10



4

Breckland Council received a request from Carbrooke Parish Council to increase the 
number of Councillors on the Parish Council from seven to nine members.  There 
would be no alteration to the parish boundaries as part of this review.   

The rationale behind this request is due to the development of three new housing 
estates sited off Norwich Road, as well as the Blenheim Grange housing 
development.  As a result of this, the parish has seen a substantial increase in the 
electorate over the last few years.  The parish council believes that an increase in the 
number of councillors to nine would allow for better representation of the parish as a 
whole. 

Area under Review

The area under review is the parish of Carbrooke map below

The ordinary year of election

The Local Government Act 1972 states that the ordinary election of parish councils, 
shall take place in 1976, 1979 and every fourth year thereafter (i.e. 2007, 2011, 2015, 
2019).  The Government however, has indicated that it wants a parish council 
electoral cycle to coincide with the cycle for the District Council so that the costs can 
be shared.

If the review finds that it is appropriate to increase the number of parish councillors, 
the changes will come into effect no later than at the next ordinary day of election on 
2nd May 2019.

11



5

Parish Council Requirements

Legislation sets out the following limits for a parish council

 Where the number of electors is 1,000 or more – a parish council must be 
created

 Where the number of electors is 151-999 a parish council may be created, 
with a parish meeting being an alternative form of governance

 Where the number of electors is 150 or fewer a parish council should not 
generally be created

The current electorate /councillor ratio for the parish of Carbrooke is:

Electorate (Sept 17) Number of Councillors Ratio
1629 7 233

The prosed number of councillors, electorate /councillor ratio for the parish of 
Carbrooke is:

Electorate Proposed number of 
Councillors

Ratio

1629 9 181

What considerations cover the number of parish councillors?

Both the Government and the Council believe that it is an important democratic 
principle that each person’s vote should be of equal weight so far as possible (having 
regard to other legitimate competing factors) when it comes to the election of 
councillors.

Whilst the number of parish councillors for each parish council must not be less than 
five, there is no maximum number.  By law, the Council must have regard to the 
following factors when considering the number of electors to be elected for the parish.

 The number of local government electors for the parish
 Any change in that number which is likely to occur in the period of five 

years beginning with the day the review starts
 The Council will also have regard to the National Association of Local 

Council recommendations set out in the table below

Number of parish councillor guidelines

Electors Councillors Electors Councillors
Up to 900 7 Up to 10,400 17

Up to 1,400 8 Up to 11,900 18
Up to 2,000 9 Up to 13,500 19
Up to 2,700 10 Up to 15,200 20
Up to 3,500 11 Up to 17,000 21
Up to 4,400 12 Up to 18,900 22
Up to 5,400 13 Up to 20,900 23
Up to 6,500 14 Up to 23,000 24
Up to 7,700 15 Up to 45,000 25
Up to 9,000 16

12



6

Consultation

The Council intends to undertake a consultation with electors, Ward and Parish 
councillors and interested stakeholders in the area by way of Notice of the Review 
on the Carbrooke Parish Council Notice Board and website and Breckland Council 
website. The Council will also write to the Parish Council and Ward Member directly 
as part of the consultation process.

Breckland Council will be pleased to receive comments from any person or body that 
wishes to make representation during the review.  

The consultation responses will be published on the Breckland council website and 
will be held on public deposit for inspection at Breckland Council Offices, Dereham. 

The Council intends to clearly publish all decisions taken during the review, give 
reasons for taking such decisions and conduct the process transparently so that local 
people and local stakeholders who may have an interest are made aware of the 
outcome of the decisions taken on them and the reason.

Community Governance Review Timetable

Carbrooke 

Stage
 What happens Date / Timescales 

Commencement of Review
Stage 1 

Publication of terms of reference 
Consultation period. 
Submissions are invited. 

6 weeks  (8th January 2018 
to 16th February 2018)

Stage 2 

Consideration of submissions. 
Draft recommendations 
prepared and published. 

4 weeks (19th February 
2018 to 9th March 2018) 

Stage 3 

Second consultation period. 
Final proposals prepared 
and published 

6 weeks  (12th March 2018 
to 27th April 2018)

Stage 4 
Principal Council agrees and 
publishes final  
recommendations 

4 weeks (28th April 2018 to 
31st May  2018)

Stage 5 Full Council Decision 12th July 2018

Date of Publication of Terms of Reference

These Terms of Reference will be published on the Breckland Council
website www.breckland.gov.uk  and are available for inspection at the offices of the 
Council from  8th January 2018

13

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/


7

Responses to the consultation may be made in the following ways:

Breckland Council Website 

www.breckland.gov.uk/communitygovernancereviewconstulation/2018 

By email to:elections@breckland.CGR.2018.gov.uk 

In writing to Electoral Services, Breckland Council, Community Governance Review 
2018 - Carbrooke, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE

Any submissions received after the closing date for this consultation Friday 16th 

February 2018 may not be taken into account.

14

file:///C:/Users/MarkStinson/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/S7YTFNR9/www.breckland.gov.uk/communitygovernancereviewconstulation/2018
file:///C:/Users/MarkStinson/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/S7YTFNR9/elections@breckland.CGR.2018.gov.uk


8

Community Governance Review
 PARISH OF CARBROOKE 

Form to assist in the Submission of any comments in respect of the proposed 
increase in size of Carbrooke Parish Council from 7 to 9 seats

Please take a few minutes to give your views on the proposal to increase the size of 
Carbrooke Parish Council from 7 to 9. We ask your name and address as 'must 
answer' questions. This is, by law, a public consultation so all responses to this 
consultation will be publicly available - including respondent's name, address and 
contact details. You can see your and other people's responses in hard copy at the 
Electoral Services Office, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE and 
on the Breckland Council website at ………………………….gov.uk 

1. What is your name? You must provide an answer to this question.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2. What is your address? You must provide an answer to this question.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

3. Please give an email address or a daytime phone number we can contact 
you on:  

 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4.  Please give your views on the proposed increase in council size 

Please say whether you agree or disagree with the proposal.

If you wish to propose any amendment please provide your reasons and /or relevant 
supporting proposals.  (Please continue on additional sheets of paper if necessary).

15



COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW 
TERMS OF REFERENCE

PARISH OF GREAT ELLINGHAM

THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE HAVE BEEN PUBLISHED BY THE 
COUNCIL ON

8 January 2018

SUBMISSIONS AND COMMENTS ON THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
DOCUMENT SHOULD BE MADE

BY

16th March 2018

16



LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN 
HEALTH ACT 2007

TERMS OF REFERENCE
PARISH OF GREAT ELLINGHAM 

Introduction

On 2 November 2017, Breckland Council resolved to undertake a Community Governance Review 
for the Parish of Great Ellingham.

Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 devolves 
the power to take decisions about matters such as the creation of parishes and their electoral 
arrangements from the Secretary of State and the Electoral Commission to local government and 
local communities in England.

The review will be conducted under Sections 79 to 102 of the Local Government Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and have regard to Guidance on Community Governance Reviews 
issued in accordance with section 100(4) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 by the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England in March 2010.

Breckland Council has also given due consideration t o  and carefully considered the Guidance 
on Community Governance Reviews issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government published in March 2010.

The full text of the 2007 Act can be accessed at: Local Government and Public involvement in 
Health Act 2007.
 www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1

Principal councils are also required to have regard to guidance on undertaking community 
governance reviews. The guidance can be accessed at: 

Guidance on community governance reviews

The Terms of Reference document (ToR)

Section 81 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires the 
Council to publish a Terms of Reference document for a Community Governance Review. This 
document is published to meet that requirement.

The Terms of Reference of any Review will be published on the Council’s website 
(www.breckland.gov.uk) and will also be available to view at the Council’s main offices Breckland 
Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE.

Who will undertake the Review?

The Community Governance Review Sub-Committee (CGRSC) is responsible for undertaking the 
review. Organisation of the consultations and all subsequent correspondence is undertaken by 
the Electoral Services Team Leader at Breckland Council. The CGRSC of the Council is 
delegated to deal with all related matters and will make the final recommendation after the 
consultations have been concluded. The matter will then be taken to Full Council for final 
decision.

17

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf


What is a Community Governance Review (CGR)?

A Community Governance Review (CGR) is a legal process whereby Councils can create parish 
councils, review and change parish boundaries and in extreme cases, abolish parishes. The 
Council must ensure that community governance in the area under review reflects the identities 
and interests of the community in that area, and is effective and convenient.  It is important that 
recommendations made through a CGR should bring about improved community engagement, 
more cohesive communities, better local democracy and result in more effective and convenient 
delivery of local services.

This means making sure that electors and other interested groups have a say in how local services 
are delivered in their area. Electors and interested parties will be notified of the proposals by way of 
public notice and their feedback will be sought.  

A community governance review can consider one or more of the following options:-

 creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes;
 the naming of parishes and the style of new parishes and the creation of town councils;
 the electoral arrangements for parishes (for instance, the ordinary year of election; council 

size; the number of councillors to be elected to the council, and parish warding);
 grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping parishes;
 other types of local arrangements.

The legal framework

In undertaking any Review, the Council will be guided by the following legislation:

 Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007:
 Local Government (Parishes and Parish Councils) (England) Regulations 2008 

(SI2008/625);
 Local Government Finance (New Parishes) Regulations 2008 (SI2008/626)
 Relevant parts of the Local Government Act 1972

The Council is required to have regard to the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews 
issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government  (published in April 
2008), together with the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews  issued by the Department 
of Communities and Local Government and the Local Government Boundary Commission 
(CLCBE) for England in March 2010

Parish Governance in Breckland
The Council believes that parish councils play an important role in terms of community 
empowerment at a local level, and wants to ensure that parish governance in our District continues 
to be enabled to meet the challenges that lie before it. Furthermore, it wants to ensure that there is 
clarity and transparency to the areas that parish councils represent and that the electoral 
arrangements of parishes (the warding arrangements and the allocations of councillors) are 
appropriate, equitable and readily understood by their electorate.

Ultimately, the recommendations made in any community governance review should aim to bring 
about improved community engagement, better local democracy and result in a more effective 
and convenient delivery of local services.

18



Central to the concept of sustainable communities is community cohesion. The impact of 
community governance on cohesion is an issue to be taken into account when taking decisions 
about community governance arrangements.

Local communities should have access to good quality local services, ideally in one place. A 
parish council may be well placed to do this. With local parish and town councils in mind, effective 
and convenient local government essentially means that such councils should be viable in terms 
of providing at least some local services, and if they are to be convenient they need to be easy to 
reach and accessible to local people.

In responding to the requirement for effective and convenient local government, the 2007 Act 
provides a power of well-being to those parish councils who want to take on more, giving them 
additional powers to enable them to promote the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of 
their areas. Nevertheless, certain conditions must be met by individual parish councils before this 
power is extended to them.

Why is the Council undertaking this Review?

Reviews are normally undertaken because of one or more of the following reasons:

 Changes in population
 Shifts in “natural settlements” caused by new development
 In reaction to specific or local issues which have now been raised
 In receipt of a valid petition
 In advance of a full review of the district or parish electoral arrangements
 At a request from the parish council or other interested party

The Council is required to ensure that community governance within the area under review will 
be reflective of the identities and interests in the communities in that area, and is effective and 
convenient.

In doing so the review is required to take into account the impact of community governance 
arrangements on community cohesion and the size, population and boundaries of a local 
community or parish.

Breckland Council received a request to undertake a Community Governance Review of the 
Parish of Great Ellingham with a view to extending the southern boundary of the parish of Great 
Ellingham to meet the natural boundary provided by the A11 which lies within the parish of 
Attleborough (Queens and Besthorpe  Parish Ward).The request suggests the properties on the 
south side of the A11 have no natural ties with the Town of Attleborough as their properties are 
closer in proximity to Great Ellingham Parish.  A map is attached which highlights the area in 
question and proximity to the A11 boundary.

19



Area under review

Red:  Parish Boundary Blue:  A11 Green:  Ward Boundary

Electoral arrangements

An important part of the Review will involve ‘Electoral Arrangements’. This covers matters such as:

 The ordinary year in which elections are held
 The number of councillors to be elected to the council
 The division (or not) of the parish into wards for the purpose of electing councillors
 The number and boundaries of any such wards
 The number of councillors to be elected for any such ward
 The name of any such ward

20



The ordinary year of election

The Local Government Act 1972 states that the ordinary election of parish councils, shall take in 
1976, 1979 and every fourth year thereafter (i.e. 2007, 2011, 2015, 2019). The Government 
however, has indicated that it wants a parish council electoral cycle to coincide with the cycle for the 
District Council so that the costs can be shared.

If the review finds that it is appropriate to create additional parish councillors, these will come into 
effect no later than at the next ordinary day of election on 2nd May 2019.

Who will undertake the review?

The Community Governance Review Sub-Committee (CGRSC) is responsible for undertaking the 
review. Organisation of the consultations and all subsequent correspondence is undertaken by the 
Electoral Services Team Leader at Breckland Council. The CGRSC of the Council is delegated to 
deal with all related matters and will make the final recommendation after the consultations have 
been concluded. The matter will then be taken to Full Council for final decision.

Consultation

The Council is now publishing this Terms of Reference document. It sets out the aims of the review, 
the legislation which guides it and some of the policies which the Council considers important in the 
review.

The Council intends to undertake a consultation with electors, Ward and Parish councillors and 
interested stakeholders in the area by way of notice of the review on the Gt Ellingham and 
Attleborough Parish Council Notice Boards and websites and Breckland Council website. The 
Council will also write to the Parish Councils and Ward Members directly as part of the 
consultation process.

The Council will need to take into consideration the views of the local people, together with the 
views of Ward and Parish Councillors any other interested party. Local people and any other 
stakeholders should be aware of the outcome of decisions made and the reasons behind them.

The Breckland Council will also ask for the views of Norfolk County Council and any neighbouring 
parish councils affected by this review.

Breckland Council will be pleased to receive comments from any person or body that wishes to 
make representation during the review.  

The Council hopes that this review will encourage residents to respond within the periods specified 
in the timetable for the review.

Responses to the consultation may be made via the following:
Breckland Council Website 
http:www.breckland.gov.uk/communitygovernancereviewconstulation/2018 
By email to:elections@breckland.CGR.2018.gov.uk
In writing to Electoral Services, Breckland Council, Community Governance Review 2018- Great 
Ellingham, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE

The consultation responses will be published on the Breckland council website and will be held on 
public deposit for inspection at Breckland Council Offices, Dereham. 

The Council intends to publish all decisions taken during the review, give reasons for taking such 

21

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/communitygovernancereviewconstulation/2018
mailto:elections@breckland.cgr.2018.gov.uk


decisions and conduct the process transparently so that local people and local stakeholders who 
may have an interest are made aware of the outcome of the decisions taken on them and the 
reason.

Community Governance Review Timetable

Gt Ellingham

Stage What happens Date / Timescales

Commencement of the 
review
Stage 1

Publication of terms of 
reference 
Consultation period. 
Submissions are invited.

10 weeks (8th January to 
16th   March 2018)

Stage 2
Consideration of submissions. Draft 
recommendations prepared and 
published

4 weeks (19th March 
2018 to 13th April 2018)

Stage 3
Second consultation 
period. Final proposals 
prepared and published

10 weeks (16th April
to 22nd  June 2018)

Stage 4
Principal Council agrees and 
publishes final 
recommendations

4 weeks (25th June 2018 
to 20th July  2018)

Stage 5 Full Council Decision 13th September 2018

22



Community Governance Review
PARISH OF GREAT ELLINGHAM

Form to assist in the Submission of any comments in respect of the proposal

Please take a few minutes to give your views on the proposal to extend the southern boundary of 
Great Ellingham Parish Council to meet the natural boundary provided by the A11 which lies within 
the parish of Attleborough Burgh & Haverscroft Ward. We ask your name and address as 'must 
answer' questions. This is, by law, a public consultation so all responses to this consultation will be 
publicly available - including respondent's name, address and contact details. You can see your 
and other people's responses in hard copy at the Electoral Services Office, Elizabeth House, 
Walpole    Loke,    Dereham,    NR19    1EE    and    on    the    Breckland    Council    website    at
………………………….gov.uk

1. What is your name? You must provide an answer to this question.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2. What is your address? You must provide an answer to this question.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

3. Please give an email address or a daytime phone number we can contact you on:

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4. Please give your views on the proposal

Please say whether you agree or disagree with the proposal.

If you wish to propose any amendment please provide your reasons and /or relevant supporting 
proposals. (Please continue on additional sheets of paper if necessary).

23



COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW
TERMS OF REFERENCE

PARISH OF THETFORD

THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE HAVE BEEN PUBLISHED BY THE 
COUNCIL ON

8 January 2018

SUBMISSIONS AND COMMENTS ON THESE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
DOCUMENT SHOULD BE MADE

BY

16th March 2018

24



LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN
HEALTH ACT 2007

TERMS OF REFERENCE
PARISH OF THETFORD

INTRODUCTION

On 2 November 2017, Breckland Council resolved to undertake a Community Governance 
Review covering the parish of Thetford

Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 devolves 
the power to take decisions about matters such as the creation of parishes and their electoral 
arrangements form the Secretary of State and the Electoral Commission to local government and 
local communities in England.

The review will be conducted under Section’s 79 to 102 of the Local Government Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and have regard to Guidance on Community Governance Reviews 
issued in accordance with section 100(4) of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 by the Department of Communities and Local Government and the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England in March 2010.

Breckland Council has also given due consideration and carefully considered the Guidance on 
Community Governance Reviews issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government published in March 2010.

The full text of the 2007 Act can be accessed at: Local Government and Public involvement in 
Health Act 2007.
 www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1

Principal councils are also required to have regard to guidance on undertaking community 
governance reviews. The guidance can be accessed at: 

Guidance on community governance reviews

The legal framework

In undertaking any Review, the Council will be guided by the following legislation:

 Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007:
 Local Government (Parishes and Parish Councils) (England) Regulations 2008 

(SI2008/625);
 Local Government Finance (New Parishes) Regulations 2008 (SI2008/626)
 Relevant parts of the Local Government Act 1972

25

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf


The full text of the 2007 Act can be accessed at: Local Government and Public involvement in 
Health Act 2007.
 www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1

Principal councils are also required to have regard to guidance on undertaking community 
governance reviews. The guidance can be accessed at: 

Guidance on community governance reviews

The Terms of Reference document (ToR) 

Section 81 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires the 
Council to publish a Terms of Reference document for a Community Governance Review. This 
document is published to meet that requirement.

The Terms of Reference of any Review will be published on the Council’s website 
(www.breckland.gov.uk) and will also be available to view at our reception area at the Council’s 
main offices Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE.

Who will undertake the Review?

The Community Governance Review Sub-Committee (CGRSC) is responsible for undertaking 
the review. Organisation of the consultations and all subsequent correspondence is 
undertaken by the Electoral Services Team Leader at Breckland Council. The CGRSC of the 
Council is delegated to deal with all related matters and will make the final recommendation 
after the consultations have been concluded. The matter will then be taken to Full Council for 
approval.

What is a Community Governance Review?

A Community Governance Review (CGR) is a legal process whereby Councils can create parish 
councils, review and change parish boundaries and in extreme cases, abolish parishes. The 
Council must ensure that community governance in the area under review reflects the identities 
and interests of the community in that area, and is effective and convenient.  It is important that 
recommendations made through a CGR should bring about improved community engagement, 
more cohesive communities, better local democracy and result in more effective and convenient 
delivery of local services.

This means making sure that electors and other interested groups have a say in how local 
services are delivered in their area. Electors and interested parties will be notified of the 
proposals by way of public notice and their feedback will be sought.  

A community governance review can consider one or more of the following options:-

 creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes;
 the naming of parishes and the style of new parishes and the creation of town councils;
 the electoral arrangements for parishes (for instance, the ordinary year of election; council 

size; the number of councillors to be elected to the council, and parish warding);
 grouping parishes under a common parish council or de-grouping parishes;
 other types of local arrangements.

26

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2007/ukpga_20070028_en_1
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__documents/lgbce/guidance-policy-and-publications/guidance/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf


Parish Governance in Breckland

The Council believes that parish councils play an important role in terms of community 
empowerment at a local level, and wants to ensure that parish governance in our District continues 
to be enabled to meet the challenges that lie before it. Furthermore, it wants to ensure that there is 
clarity and transparency to the areas that parish councils represent and that the electoral 
arrangements of parishes (the warding arrangements and the allocations of councillors) are 
appropriate, equitable and readily understood by their electorate.

Ultimately, the recommendations made in any community governance review should aim to bring 
about improved community engagement, better local democracy and result in a more effective and 
convenient delivery of local services.

Central to the concept of sustainable communities is community cohesion. The impact of 
community governance on cohesion is an issue to be taken into account when taking decisions 
about community governance arrangements.

Local communities should have access to good quality local services, ideally in one place. A 
parish council may be well placed to do this. With local parish and town councils in mind, effective 
and convenient local government essentially means that such councils should be viable in terms 
of providing at least some local services, and if they are to be convenient they need to be easy to 
reach and accessible to local people.

In responding to the requirement for effective and convenient local government, the 2007 Act 
provides a power of well-being to those parish councils who want to take on more, giving them 
additional powers to enable them to promote the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of 
their areas. Nevertheless, certain conditions must be met by individual parish councils before this 
power is extended to them.

Why is the Council undertaking the review?

Reviews are normally undertaken because of one or more of the following reasons:

 Changes in population
 Shifts in “natural settlements” caused by new development
 In reaction to specific or local issues which have now been raised
 In receipt of a valid petition
 In advance of a full review of the district or parish electoral arrangements
 At a request from the parish council or other interested party

The Council is required to ensure that community governance within the area under review will 
be reflective of the identities and interests in the communities in that area, and is effective and 
convenient.

In doing so the review is required to take into account the impact of community governance 
arrangements on community cohesion and the size, population and boundaries of a local 
community or parish.

Parish of Thetford

This review will consider the size of the parish council, whether the settlement boundary of 
Thetford Parish wil l  include the Sustainable Urban Extension area (SUE) and as  a  
sepa ra te  cons ide ra t i on  warding arrangements within the existing parish council 
boundaries. 

The majority phase of employment expansion sits within the Town of Thetford. The review 

27



includes the settlement boundary of Thetford and whether or not the settlement boundary 
will include the entirety of the Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) within the Parish of Thetford.   

On 5th July 2012 the District Council adopted as a set of planning policies the Thetford Area 
Action Plan. As part of this process an enlarged settlement boundary for Thetford was 
established, this included the entire area of the Thetford Sustainable Urban extension, and 
Arlington way, currently part of Brettenham. Subsequently outline planning permission has been 
given for the SUE extension.

The Sustainable Urban Extension ( S U E )  is expected to include allotments,  community hub, 
and regular public transport links into the Town Centre. The SUE extension is phased, and 
initial phases are primarily in the Parish of Croxton, later phases in the combined Parish of 
Kilverstone and Brettenham. 

The Town Council have requested that the review considers additional a n  two Town 
Councillors in respect of that element of the SUE within Croxton Parish and a further two in 
respect of that element of the SUE within the parish of Kilverstone if the SUE area is included in 
the parish of Thetford. 

The Warding arrangements associated with the SUE would consider whether to review Boudica 
Ward, Anne Bartholomew Ward and Castle Ward in terms of the numbers of councillors 
representing each of the Wards.  In each case the review would consider an expansion of 
contiguous boundaries of existing wards into the SUE.

Notwithstanding the request for revised warding in the previous paragraph, the Town Council 
have asked that separate single member wards should be considered to achieve consistency 
with District Councillor representation within the Town of Thetford.

Oher matters
The Town Council have raised the issue that the current  parish council boundary extends 
partially around the village of Croxton, and in particular runs through the property known as 
Croxton Park, the Local Government Boundary Commission for England make particular note 
that such anomalies should be resisted. 

28



29



         Area Under Review

Electoral arrangements

An important part of the Review will involve ‘Electoral Arrangements’. This covers matters such 
as:

 The ordinary year in which elections are held
 The number of councillors to be elected to the council
 The division (or not) of the parish into wards for the purpose of electing councillors
 The number and boundaries of any such wards
 The number of councillors to be elected for any such ward
 The name of any such ward

The ordinary year of election

The Local Government Act 1972 states that the ordinary election of parish councils, shall take in 
1976, 1979 and every fourth year thereafter (i.e. 2007, 2011, 2015, 2019). The Government 
however, has indicated that it wants a parish council electoral cycle to coincide with the cycle for 
the District Council so that the costs can be shared.

If the review finds that it is appropriate to create additional parish councillors, these will come into 

30



effect no later than at the next ordinary day of election on 2nd May 2019.

Consultation

The Council is now publishing this Terms of Reference document. It sets out the aims of the 
review, the legislation which guides it and some of the policies which the Council considers 
important in the review.

The Council will need to take into consideration the views of the local people, Ward and Parish 
Councillors together with the views of any other interested party. Local people and any other 
stake-holders should be aware of the outcome of decisions made and the reasons behind them.

The Breckland Council will also ask for the views of Norfolk County Council and any 
neighbouring parish councils affected by this review.

Breckland Council will be pleased to receive comments from any person or body that wishes to 
make representation during the review.  

The Council hopes that this review will encourage residents to respond within the periods 
specified in the timetable for the review.

Responses to the consultation may be made in the following ways:

Breckland Council Website 
http:www.breckland.gov.uk/communitygovernancereviewconstulation/2018

By email to:elections@breckland.CGR.2018.gov.uk

In writing to Electoral Services, Breckland Council, Community Governance Review 2018 - 
Thetford, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE

Any submissions received after the closing date for this consultation Friday 16th March 2018 
may not be taken into account.

The consultation responses will be published on the Breckland council website and will be held on 
public deposit for inspection at Breckland Council Offices, Dereham. 

The Council intends to publish all decisions taken during the review, give reasons for taking such 
decisions and conduct the process transparently so that local people and local stakeholders who 
may have an interest are made aware of the outcome of the decisions taken on them and the 
reason.

31

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/communitygovernancereviewconstulation/2018
mailto:elections@breckland.cgr.2018.gov.uk


Community Governance Review Timetable

Thetford
.

Stage What happens Date / Timescales

Commencement of the 
review
Stage 1

Publication of terms of 
reference 
Consultation period. 
Submissions are invited.

10 weeks (8th January to 
16th   March 2018)

Stage 2
Consideration of submissions. Draft 
recommendations prepared and 
published

4 weeks (19th March 
2018 to 13th April 2018)

Stage 3
Second consultation 
period. Final proposals 
prepared and published

10 weeks (16th April
to 22nd  June 2018)

Stage 4
Principal Council agrees and 
publishes final 
recommendations

4 weeks (25th June 2018 
to 20th July  2018)

Stage 5 Full Council Decision 13th September 2018

32



Community Governance Review
PARISH OF THETFORD 

Form to assist in the Submission of any comments

Please take a few minutes to give your views on the proposals as set out in the Terms of 
Reference. We ask your name and address as 'must answer' questions. This is,a public 
consultation and as such all responses to this consultation will be publicly available - including 
respondent's name, address and contact details. You can see your and other people's 
responses in hard copy at the Electoral Services Office, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, NR19 1EE and on the Breckland Council website at
………………………….gov.uk

1. What is your name? You must provide an answer to this question.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2. What is your address? You must provide an answer to this question.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------

3. Please give an email address or a daytime phone number we can contact you on:

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

4. Please give your views on the proposals

Please say whether you agree or disagree with the proposal.

If you wish to propose any amendment please provide your reasons and /or relevant supporting 
proposals. (Please continue on additional sheets of paper if necessary).

33


	Agenda
	4 Terms of Reference (for information)
	5 Terms of Reference (ToR) for Community Governance Reviews
	DRAFT working copy terms of reference Carbrooke
	DRAFT working copy Terms of Reference Great Ellingham December 17
	Draft Working Copy Draft Terms of Reference Thetford


